
OPERATIONS & ADMINISTRATIVE 
COMMITTEE AGENDA 

Called by:  Keith McDonald, Chairman DATE: THURSDAY, MARCH 20, 2025 
Members:  Paul Arena, John Butitta, 
Valerie Hanserd, Joe Hoffman,  

TIME: 5:30 PM 

Jaime Salgado, Michael Thompson LOCATION:   ROOM 303 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BLDG 
404 ELM STREET 
ROCKFORD, IL 61101 

AGENDA: 

A. Call to Order

B. Roll Call

C. Approval of Minutes – March 6, 2025

D. Public Comment – This is the time we invite the public to address the Operations and
Administrative Committee with issues and concerns.  We ask you to limit your comments to three
minutes.  Personal attacks or inappropriate language of any sort will not be tolerated.  We will
allow a maximum of five speakers on a first come basis with sign up at the meeting.  Speakers
may not address zoning matters which are pending before the ZBA, the Zoning Committee or the
County Board.  Personnel matters or pending or threatened litigation may not be addressed in
open session.  An individual may speak a maximum of three times per calendar year on the same
topic.  This prohibition shall include the repetition of the same topic in a statement on what is
purported to be a different topic.  After acknowledgment by the chair, please stand and state your
name.  Thank you.

E. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Replacement Range Wall for Sheriff’s Office Using CIP-PSST
2025 Funds
Cost: $105,595

F. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Palo Alto Firewall Using CIP 2025 Funds
Cost: $494,980

G. An Ordinance Amending Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3 of the Winnebago County Code of
Ordinances (Purchasing Ordinance)

H. Update on County-Wide Security Camera/Integrator ARP Phase 3 Project (Discussion Only)

I. Closed Session to Discuss Personnel Matters

J. Resolution Amending the County Administrator Employment Agreement Between the County
of Winnebago, Illinois and Patrick J. Thompson

K. Future Agenda Items

L. Adjournment



Page 1 

Winnebago County Board 
Operations and Administrative Committee Meeting 

County Administration Building 
404 Elm Street, Room 303 

Rockford, IL 61101 

Thursday, March 6, 2025 
5:30 PM 

Present: Others Present: 
Keith McDonald, Chairperson 
Paul Arena 
John Butitta 
Valerie Hanserd 
Joe Hoffman 
Jaime Salgado  
Michael Thompson 

Patrick Thompson, County Administrator 
Steve Schultz, Chief Financial Officer 
Lafakeria Vaughn, State’s Attorney’s Office 
Chris Dornbush, Chief Operations Officer 
Debbie Jarvis, Director of Court Services, 17th Judicial Circuit 
Dan Magers, Chief Information Officer  
Carol Hartline, Attorney, Williams McCarthy LLP 
Kimberly Kovanda, State’s Attorney’s Office 
Dominick Barcelona, Retired Deputy Chief WCSO 

AGENDA:  
A. Call to Order
B. Roll Call
C. Approval of Minutes – February 20, 2025
D. Public Comment – This is the time we invite the public to address the Operations and

Administrative Committee with issues and concerns.  We ask you to limit your comments
to three minutes.  Personal attacks or inappropriate language of any sort will not be
tolerated.  We will allow a maximum of five speakers on a first come basis with sign-up
at the meeting.  Speakers may not address zoning matters which are pending before the
ZBA, the Zoning Committee or the County Board.  Personnel matters or pending or
threatened litigation may not be addressed in open session.  An individual may speak a
maximum of three times per calendar year on the same topic. This prohibition shall
include the repetition of the same topic in a statement on what is purported to be a
different topic.  After acknowledgment by the chair, please stand and state your name.
Thank you.

E. Resolution Awarding Countywide Camera Project Additional Hardware Using CIP 2025
Funds
Cost: $342,141

F. Resolution Authorizing the Chairman of the County Board to Execute an
Intergovernmental Agreement for Information Technology Support Services with
Rockford Housing Authority

G. Resolution Awarding PC Obsolescence Project Using CIP 2025 Funds
Cost: $365,250

H. Resolution Awarding Cybersecurity Managed Detection and Response Using CIP 2025
Funds
Cost: $377,388

I. Resolution Awarding Uninterrupted Power Supplies Using CIP 2025 Funds
Cost: $66,584



Page 2 

J. Resolution Granting a Temporary Construction Easement from Property at 650 W. State
St. in the City of Rockford to the State of Illinois Department of Transportation for Road
Construction Purposes

K. Future Agenda Items
L. Adjournment

Chairperson McDonald called the meeting to order at 5:30 PM. 

Roll Call 
Chairperson McDonald yes, Mr. Arena yes, Mr. Butitta yes, Ms. Hanserd yes, Mr. Hoffman yes, 
Mr. Salgado yes, Mr. Thompson yes. 

Approval of Minutes – February 20, 2025 
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Hoffman. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 
The motion was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Public Comment 
Chairperson McDonald omitted reading the Public Comment Section of the Agenda because no one 
was present to speak.  

Resolution Awarding Countywide Camera Project Additional Hardware Using CIP 2025 
Funds  
Cost: $342,141  
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Thompson. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.
Chairperson McDonald called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson McDonald called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Resolution Authorizing the Chairman of the County Board to Execute an Intergovernmental 
Agreement for Information Technology Support Services with Rockford Housing Authority 
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Salgado. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.
Chairperson McDonald called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson McDonald called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Resolution Awarding PC Obsolescence Project Using CIP 2025 Funds 
Cost: $365,250 
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Salgado. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.
Chairperson McDonald called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson McDonald called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 



Page 3 

Resolution Awarding Cybersecurity Managed Detection and Response Using CIP 2025 Funds 
Cost: $377,388 
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Hoffman. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.
Chairperson McDonald called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson McDonald called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Resolution Awarding Uninterrupted Power Supplies Using CIP 2025 Funds 
Cost: $66,584 
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Thompson. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.
Chairperson McDonald called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson McDonald called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Resolution Granting a Temporary Construction Easement from Property at 650 W. State St. 
in the City of Rockford to the State of Illinois Department of Transportation for Road 
Construction Purposes 
Motion: Chairperson McDonald.  Second: Mr. Salgado. 
Chairperson McDonald called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.
Chairperson McDonald called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson McDonald called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Future Agenda Items 
• Update on Camera Project
• Valerie Hanserd named Vice-Chairperson of the Operations & Administrative Committee
• Presentation of the County Administrator Evaluation

Motion to Adjourn   
Chairperson McDonald called for a motion to adjourn. 
Motion: Mr. Thompson.  Second:  Ms. Hanserd. 
The motion to adjourn was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nancy Bleile 
Executive Assistant 



Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: March 20, 2025 
Board Date:  March 27, 2025     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Replacement Range Wall for Sheriff’s 

Office Using CIP-PSST 2025 Funds  

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $110,000   
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $105,595  
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $4,405  
Reason for CIP increase? 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46320-C2516  Descriptor: CIP 2025-Range Wall 
Budget Impact? $105,595 

Background Information: The Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office (WCSO) has requested the 
purchase of a replacement range wall in the current shooting bay by using CIP PSST 2025 funds. 
The current range wall was installed in 2007 and is in need of modernization, maintenance and 
safety updates.  

The Purchasing Department and the WCSO reached out for quotes and availability.  Three (3) 
quotes were obtained (See Resolution Exhibit A), with Action Target providing the most cost-
effective solution. This solution is a rubber berm trap system engineered to safely capture rounds 
and provides maximum fire protection.  The trap system allows for the metal to be collected and 
recycled.  This eliminates the need for costly maintenance by replacing the block wall and having 
to dispose of the wall blocks and the hazardous lead imbedded in the them.   

The Action Target solution also has a maintenance and cleaning program with range visits to 
ensure the longevity of the wall and trap system as well as proper disposal of bullets and debris. 
The Action Target trap range wall solution is a safe, modern and cost effective for the 
requirements of the ongoing target shooting training needs of our Winnebago County Sheriff’s 
Office. See Resolution Exhibit B for full Action Target Proposal. 

Recommended By:  Sheriff Gary Caruana and Administrative Lieutenant Lucas Wagner 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will issue Purchase Orders accordingly. 



  County Board Meeting: March 27, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF REPLACEMENT RANGE WALL FOR SHERIFF’S OFFICE 
USING CIP- PSST 2025 FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office requested the replacement of their
Range Wall, using CIP-PSST 2025 funds; and 

WHEREAS, the item was quoted by multiple vendors and site walk-throughs were also 
conducted for accuracy; and 

WHEREAS, the Operations & Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for the range wall, (Resolution Exhibit 
A) and recommends awarding the purchase order as follows:

ACTION TARGET 
3411 MOUNTAIN VISTA PARKWAY 

PROVO, UT 84606 
(See Resolution Exhibit B) 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that the County will issue, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, 
Purchase Orders with ACTION TARGET, 3411 MOUNTAIN VISTA PKWY, PROVO, UT 84606 in 
the dollar amount of ($105,595.00), 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, 
County Administrator, County Sheriff, County Board Office and County Auditor.    



 
Respectfully Submitted, 

       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



ACTION TARGET        
Provo, UT

SAVAGE RANGE SYSTEMS   
Westfiled, MA

THEISSEN TRAINING 
SYSTEMS                   

Gainsville, FL 

Total                 
(Includes: Installation, 
Equipment & Shipping)

$105,595 $136,880 $115,752

25NB-2397 QUOTE TAB                                      
WCSO - REPLACEMENT RANGE WALL                         

USING CIP PSST 2025 FUNDS

Purchasing Department  |  404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.gov
Phone: (815) 319- 4380   |  Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov

Resolution Exhibit A



Resolution Exhibit B

















Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department of behalf of DoIT 
Committee Name: Operations & Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: March 20, 2025 
Board Date:  March 27, 2025     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Palo Alto Firewall Using CIP 2025 Funds 

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $423,688 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $423,688  
Over or Under approved amount? OVER        By: $71,292 
Reason for CIP increase?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 44900-43167   Descriptor: CIP 2025 Funds 
Budget Impact? $494,980 

Background Information:  The Winnebago County Department of Information Technology 
(WinCo DoIT) is required to provide a secure and reliable information technology infrastructure 
for public safety, public health, a nursing home, the circuit courts, elections and all other elected 
and appointed officials.   

After evaluating many vendors in 2019-2020, Palo Alto was selected to provide the County’s Next 
Gen Firewalls. Hardware devices were then purchased, along with 5 years of annual service. 
WinCo DoIT wishes to remain on the Palo Alto platform, and as this term is coming to an end, we 
are looking to replace this hardware and purchase another 5 years of service.  

In February of 2025, the County Purchasing Department issued IFB 25B-2393 DoIT Palo Alto 
(Firewall) and two bid submissions were received, with ITSavvy being the lowest responsive 
bidder (See Resolution Exhibit A). 

A third comparison was also obtained and attached for your review (See Resolution Exhibit 
B).  

Recommended By:  Dan Magers, Chief Information Officer  

Follow-Up Steps: Purchasing will prepare the Purchase Order to ITSavvy. 



County Board Meeting:  March 27, 2025 
 

 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 
   

2025 CR 
 

RESOLUTION  AWARDING PURCHASE OF PALO ALTO FIREWALL USING CIP 2025 FUNDS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use.  All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and, 

          

 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department went out for bid 25B-2393 DoIT Palo Alto 
(Firewall) in February to secure the necessary IT equipment to replace Palo Alto 
hardware and purchase another 5 years of service, as the current term is coming to an 
end and two submissions were received; and, 

 
 

 

           WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the bids received for the aforementioned project and 
recommends awarding the contract as follows:  

 

ITSAVVY 
2015 SPRING ROAD, STE. 300 
OAK BROOK, ILLINOIS 60523 

 

(See Bid Tab, Resolution Exhibit A) 
 

 
 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue a Purchase Order in the amount of 
$494,980, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, to ITSAVVY, 2015 SPRING ROAD, SUITE 300, OAK 
BROOK, ILLINOIS 60523. 
 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare 
and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Chief Information Officer, Director of 
Purchasing, Board Office, Finance Director and County Auditor. 
 

                  



 
                                                                                                                  Respectfully Submitted, 

                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



DESCRIPTIONS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE  TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

Global Protect (VPN) subscription (5 years) 2 $29,775.66 $59,551.32 $30,583.78 $61,167.56 

PA Security Subscription (5 years) 2 $123,259.54 $246,519.08 $169,505.30 $339,010.60 

BID TAB

Premium Support (5 years) 2 $61,373.97 $122,747.94 $48,434.79 

2

VENDORS

PA Security Devices (5 years) $33,080.76 $66,161.52 $48,625.86 

25B-2393 DoIT PALO ALTO (FIREWALL)
BID OPENING - MARCH 6, 2025 @ 2:00 P.M

$96,869.58 

$494,979.86 $594,299.46GRAND TOTAL

$97,251.72 

ITSAVVY                                                 
Oak Brook, IL

CDW-G                                                          
Vernon Hills, IL

Resolution Exhibit A



 
 

Department of Information Technology |  404 Elm St, Rm 506, Rockford, IL 61101  |  wincoil.gov 

Phone: (815) 319- 4300 |  Email: Helpdesk@doit.wincoil.gov 

 

DATE:  January 2, 2025 

 

TO:  County Purchasing 

 

FROM: Dan Magers, Chief Information Officer 

 

MEMO: IT Requisitions and Deal Registration 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The purpose of this memorandum is to clarify the Deal Registration process currently used by IT 

equipment and service manufacturers and resellers.  

 

The resellers for IT products and systems are often Value-Added Resellers, commonly referred 

to as VARs. Essentially, this means that the reseller includes an engineering team during their 

engagement with a customer when determining which solution is best for them (as they often 

reseller a variety of similar solutions). This team helps determine if it is a good fit for the 

customer’s specific scenario (does software A offer a more robust solution than B based on the 

customers IT environment and needs), and many more evaluation criteria. Since the VAR is 

spending their time and efforts on this without any fees, the deal registration process came into 

existence between the vendors and manufacturers: a VAR that engaged with a potential customer 

for a period of time working on a solution can let the manufacturer know that they are actively 

engaged with the customer. This prevents two things: 1) a VAR being burned by a bad customer 

who uses their time and energy on engineering but selecting a different reseller at the last minute, 

and 2) a unscrupulous reseller sniping business from the VARs that do all of the leg work. 

 

As a result of this system, sometimes we may receive only one response on a bid. Often resellers 

will see that a deal is registered already for a given project when they engage with the 

manufacturer, and they will then know that the pricing they receive will be worse than that given 

to the already registered partner. Because of this, it’s essentially a waste of their resources to 

produce a bid response. 

 

I hope this helps to explain the scenario a bit better. Please let me know if you have any 

questions. 

 

 

Resolution Exhibit B

http://www.wincoil.us/


Resolution Exhibit B







    Ordinance Executive Summary 

Prepared By: Winnebago County State’s Attorney’s Office 
Committee: Operations & Administrative Committee  
Committee Date: March 20, 2025 
Board Meeting Date: April 10, 2025 
Resolution Title:  An Ordinance Amending Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3 of the Winnebago 
County Code of Ordinances (Purchasing Ordinance) 
County Code:  Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3 
Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  N/A     Appropriation Amount:   $0 

If not, explain funding source: 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 

FY2025 Budget Impact: 

Background Information: Due to a recent change in the state statute effective January 1, 2025, 
Winnebago County needs to amend the Purchasing Ordinance.  Those changes refer to state 
statute, 55 ILCS 5/5-1022, in relation to elected county officials having internal control over their 
offices, including purchases of equipment and professional services.   

Originally, some elected county officials were exempt from the competitive bidding statute and 
County Purchasing Ordinance. With this new amendment, those offices would be required to 
follow the competitive bidding statute and Purchasing Ordinance. Those offices include: Auditor, 
County Clerk, Recorder, State’s Attorney, Treasurer.  The Coroner and Sheriff were only subject 
to the competitive bidding statute and the Purchasing Ordinance when purchasing equipment. 
However, now all of the above offices will be subject to the statute and the Purchasing Ordinance. 

Lastly, if the offices under new Section 2-327(a)(2)(a) of the Purchasing Ordinance [Courts, Public 
Defender, ROE and Circuit Clerk] chooses to make any purchase with the assistance of the 
Purchasing Department, they'll be required to comply with the Purchasing Ordinance.  See 
attached amended ordinance for your review.  

Recommendation: States Attorney’s Office and County Administration recommends approval 

Contract/Agreement: N/A  

Legal Review:  Yes. 

Follow-Up:  N/A        



       County Board Meeting: March 27, 2025 

ORDINANCE 
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

2025 CO ____ 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

SPONSORED BY:  KEITH MCDONALD 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE VI, DIVISION 3  
OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES  

(PURCHASING ORDINANCE) 

WHEREAS, Chapter 2 of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances, Article VI, 
Division 3, sets forth various criteria for Centralized Purchasing (hereinafter “the Purchasing 
Ordinance”); and 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly recently passed legislation which amended the 
Counties Code in regard to the applicability of competitive bidding requirements; and 

WHEREAS, specifically, Public Act 103-865, effective January 1, 2025, amended the 
competitive bidding statute [55 ILCS 5/5-1022] of the Counties Code, by inserting language that 
makes clear that elected officials, including those who have internal control over their respective 
offices, must adhere to the competitive bidding statute; and 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Ordinance conflicts with the new amendatory language; and 

WHEREAS, since the amendment to 55 ILCS 5/5-1022 specifies that elected officials, 
including those who have internal control over their respective offices, must adhere to the state 
competitive bidding statute, the Winnebago County Board finds that it is in the best interests of 
the County to amend its Purchasing Ordinance so that it applies in equal measure to said elected 
officials; and 

WHEREAS, the County Board finds that amending its Purchasing Ordinance to include 
the County’s elected officials, including those who have internal control over their respective 
offices, is consistent with the goal of fiscal accountability to the public and will mitigate against 
the risk of any potential inadvertent violation of the competitive bidding statute; and   

WHEREAS, the County Board does not intend for the scope of its Purchasing Ordinance 
to include the following offices, subject to further consideration and potential modification—: 
Courts, Public Defender, Clerk of Circuit Court, and Regional Office of Education—except in 
such situations wherein one of the aforementioned offices elects to utilize the County’s 
purchasing department to facilitate a particular purchase, in which event said office shall be 
bound to comply with the Purchasing Ordinance; and 



WHEREAS, while unrelated to the amendment in Public Act 103-865, it has been noted 
that additional language in Section 2-327(a)(2) should be modified to clarify that if any section 
of the Ordinance conflicts with state or federal law or regulation, then the state or federal law or 
regulation shall prevail; and  

WHEREAS, while also unrelated to the amendment in Public Act 103-865, it has been 
noted that additional language in Section 2-327(a)(2) should be added to clarify that the 
Ordinance does not apply to the procurement of legal services; and 

 WHEREAS, the County Board wishes to amend Section 2-327 (a)(2), Section 2-
327(a)(2)(a-c), and Section 2-359(e) of Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3 of the Winnebago 
County Code of Ordinances for the aforementioned reasons.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3, Section 2-327(a)(2), Section 2-
327(a)(2)(a-c), & Section 2-359(e) of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances be amended as 
follows: 

DIVISION 3. - CENTRALIZED PURCHASING SYSTEM 

Sec. 2-326.- Short title. 
This division may be cited as the “Purchasing Ordinance of Winnebago County.”  
Sec. 2-327. - General provisions.  

(a) Policies and procedures.
(1) Purpose. The underlying purpose and policies of this division are to manage the

procurement process in accordance with state statutes and federal rules and regulations;
spend taxpayer money wisely and fairly; encourage fair and equitable treatment through
broad-based competition; protect against fraud, favoritism, extravagance and
corruption; obtain the best commodities and services at the lowest price practicable;
make purchases which are in the best interest of the county; provide safeguards for the
maintenance of a procurement system of quality and integrity; and meet the needs of the
County of Winnebago, Illinois through continuous improvement of purchasing systems
and procedures. To the extent permitted by law, the county will promote economic
development by encouraging the participation of Winnebago County businesses, by
providing equal opportunity for minority and women-owned businesses, and for
veterans, and by applying environmentally sound practices in the procurement process.

(2) Applicability. The purchasing ordinance is applicable to the procurement of materials,
services, supplies, equipment, construction, construction related services and
professional services, except for the procurement of legal services, or other certain
professional services that are as defined in section 2-357, or as specified below., by the
county board except as specified below. These provisions shall apply to all expenditures
of public funds by the County and its elected officials a county department for
purchasing regardless of its source, except where in conflict with federal or state law or
regulation, in which event said federal or state law or regulation shall prevail. as
otherwise provided by federal or state law, regulations, County of Winnebago



Ordinance or county administrative policy. Procurements involving federal or state 
assistance will be conducted in accordance with any applicable mandatory state and/or 
federal law, rules or regulation or grant.  
a. The following elected county officials have internal control over their offices, and

therefore, are not subject to the county competitive bidding statute or purchasing
ordinance:
1. Auditor 55 ILCS 5/3-1004.
2. County clerk 55 ILCS 5/3-2003.2.
3. Recorder 55 ILCS 5/3-5005.2.
4. State's attorney 55 ILCS 5/3-9005.
5. Treasurer 55 ILCS 5/3-10005.

b. The following elected county offices have internal control over their offices except
for purchases of equipment:
1. Coroner 55 ILCS 5/3-3003.
2. Sheriff 55 ILCS 5/3-6018.

a.c.  The following offices are not subject to this the county competitive bidding statute
or purchasing ordinance. 
1. Courts.
2. Public defender.
3. Regional office of education.
4. Clerk of circuit court.

Irrespective of the foregoing exemptions, if an elected official or county
agency listed in this Section 2-327(a)(2)(a) who is not otherwise required to 
comply with this Chapter chooses to make any purchase with the assistance of 
the Purchasing Department, this Purchasing Ordinance shall apply.  

d. The county engineer shall be required to procure services, materials and
equipment for road and bridge construction, maintenance, engineering, land
acquisition and such other technical supplies, services and engineering
equipment necessary to meet the operational obligations of the county
engineer, as set forth in the Illinois Compiled Statutes.

e. Nothing in this division shall prevent any county department from complying
with the terms and conditions of any grant, gift, bequest, or cooperative
purchasing agreement that is otherwise consistent with law and this policy.

f. Purchasing records required under this Section shall be maintained by any
county department to which procurement authority has been delegated and a
copy of all such records, as appropriate, shall be provided to the purchasing
department upon request.

(3) Public access to procurement information. Procurement information shall be a public
record as defined by the Illinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq.



(4) Requirement of good faith. This division requires all parties involved in the negotiation,
performance, or administration of county contracts to act in good faith.

(5) Property rights. Receipt of an invitation for bid (IFB), request for proposal (RFP) or
other procurement document or submission of any response thereto, or other offer,
confers no right to receive an award or contract, nor does it obligate the county in any
manner.

(6) Singular-plural gender rules. Words in the singular number include the plural, and those
in the plural include the singular. Words of a particular gender include any gender and the
neuter, and when the sense so indicates, words of the neuter gender may refer to any
gender.

Sec. 2-334. - Purchasing department duties. 

The purchasing department shall work cooperatively with all departments and elected 
officials in making determinations relative to the purchase of goods and supplies, equipment, 
services, construction, and professional services. In accordance with this division and subject to 
the direction of the County of Winnebago Board, the county board chairman, and the county 
administrator, and applicable provisions of state law, the purchasing department shall: 

(1) Procure or supervise the purchasing of materials, services, supplies, equipment,
construction, construction related services and professional services required by
the county with the exception of policies as determined by IDOT for the highway
department.

(2) Be forwarded suggested specifications for goods and supplies, equipment,
services, construction, and professional services from county departments. The
purchasing department shall finalize, issue, revise, maintain, and monitor the use
of specifications required by the county except for specifications for any public
work involving professional engineering shall be prepared by a professional
engineer.

(3) Obtain specifications for construction and maintenance of highways, bridges and
culverts, which shall be prepared by the county engineer. All specifications,
including those prepared for the county by architects, engineers, designers and
draftsmen, shall be drafted so as to promote overall economy for the purposes
intended and encourage competition in satisfying the county's needs, and shall not
be unduly restrictive.

(4) Execute contracts and purchase orders solicited through open competition for
materials, equipment, services, supplies, construction, and construction related
services and professional services required by the county.



(5) Establish and maintain procedures for contract execution and administration,
specification development, inspection and acceptance, in cooperation with the
county departments using the materials, supplies, services, equipment,
construction, construction related services and professional services.

(6) Make written determinations as required by this division, specifying the facts
supporting the determination, for retention in the permanent contract file.

(7) Obtain expert advice and assistance from personnel of county departments in
development of specifications.

(8) Exercise supervision over inventories of goods belonging to the county.

(9) Sell, trade, transfer, or otherwise dispose of surplus county property and
equipment.

(10) Review county departments' evaluation of their vendor's performance in order to
determine potential suitability for future use by the county.

Sec. 2-336. - Procedural rules and regulations. 

(a) Purchasing regulation and operational procedures. Consistent with this division,
in conjunction with the approval of the county board chairman and the county
administrator, the director of purchasing may adopt operational procedures, which
relate to the execution of his/her duties. All such operational procedures shall be
made available for public inspection.

As a matter of accounting procedure to ensure the county has accurate real time
accounting records, department heads are required to use the purchasing module
of the county's finance system for requisitioning materials, supplies, equipment,
services, construction, construction related services and professional services, in
order for the purchasing department to issue purchase orders for these
transactions.

(b) Purchasing determinations. The director of purchasing shall work cooperatively
with all departments and elected officials in making determinations relative to the
purchase of good and services, equipment, services, construction and professional
services. No department, office, agency, officer or employee of the county shall
be empowered to execute any purchase order, change order, agreement or contract
except as authorized by this ordinance.

(c) Specific delegation—Highway department. The procurements as set forth below
by the county's highway department need not be processed by the director of
purchasing, however the highway department shall be subject to the requirements



of this division and the regulations promulgated hereunder in making these 
procurements. However, federal, state, and IDOT procedures/requirements, and 
the Winnebago County Highway Department Policy for the Consultant 
Qualification Based Selection (QBS) Process shall have preeminence. Road and 
bridge construction, construction related services, engineering services, land 
acquisition, appraisal services, roadway materials and technical services necessary 
to meet the operational requirements of the county engineer. 

(d) Purchasing records. All records relating to a purchase shall be maintained by the
county department to which procurement authority has been delegated and a copy
of all such records shall be provided to the purchasing department upon selection
of a vendor.

Sec. 2-359. - Appeals and remedies. 

(a) Bid protests.
(1) Any actual or prospective bidder or contractor who is aggrieved in connection with the

solicitation or award of a contract may protest to the director of purchasing. Any protest
must be submitted in writing within five (5) business days from the issuance of the
solicitation, addendum, and notice of award or other decision by the purchasing
department.

(2) In the event of a timely protest under this section, the director of purchasing after
consulting with the state's attorney shall determine whether it is in the best interests of
the county to proceed with the solicitation or award of the contract.

(3) When a protest is sustained and the protesting bidder should have been awarded the
contract under the solicitation but is not, then the protesting bidder shall be entitled only
to the reasonable costs incurred in connection with the solicitation, including bid
preparation costs other than attorney's fees.

(b) Contract claims. All claims by a contractor against the county relating to a contract,
except bid protests, shall be submitted in writing to the director of purchasing. The
contractor may request a conference with the director of purchasing on the claim. Claims
include, without limitation, disputes arising under a contract, and those based upon
breach of contract, mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification or
rescission.

(c) Authority to settle bid protests and contract claims.
(1) The director of purchasing, after consultation with the state's attorney, is authorized to

settle any procedural protest regarding the solicitation or award of a county contract
prior to an appeal to the county board, or any committee thereof. The director of
purchasing, after consulting with the state's attorney, is authorized to make
recommendations on the settlement of any monetary claim to the appropriate committee
of the county board for their consideration.

(2) If the protest or claim is not resolved by a mutual agreement, the director of purchasing
shall promptly issue a decision in writing, and it shall be immediately mailed or
otherwise furnished to the contractor. The decision shall state the reasons for the



decision reached, and shall inform the contractor of its appeal rights. The director of 
purchasing's decision shall be final and conclusive unless, within five business days 
from the date of receipt of the decision, the county board chairman receives a written 
appeal from the contractor.  

(3) If the director of purchasing does not issue a written decision regarding any protest or
claim within ten business days after written request for a final decision, or within such
longer period as may be agreed upon between the parties, then the aggrieved party may
proceed as if an adverse decision had been received.

(d) Appeal process. Any actual or prospective bidder or contractor may appeal a decision of
the director of purchasing regarding bid protests or contract claims to the county board
chairman. The director of purchasing's decision shall be final and conclusive unless, within
five (5) business days from the date of receipt of the decision the county board chairman
receives a written appeal regarding the director of purchasing's decision. The county board
chairman shall, in writing, render a decision within ten (10) business days. The decision of
the county board chairman is final.

(e) Elected county officials. Decisions and determinations made under this Section are
subject to the review and approval of elected county officials as provided by state law.



        Respectfully submitted, 
OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

AGREE DISAGREE 

__________________________________       __________________________________  
Keith McDonald, Chair      Keith McDonald, Chair 

_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair       Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair 

_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Paul Arena     Paul Arena         

_________________________________         __________________________________ 
John Butitta    John Butitta   

__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman    Joe Hoffman 

__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado Jaime Salgado    

__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Michael Thompson Michael Thompson 

The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of _________________, 2025. 

________________________________  
Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman of the 

     County Board of the County of    
     Winnebago, Illinois 

ATTEST: 

______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 



County-Wide Security 
Camera/Integrator  

ARP Phase 3 Project 
(Discussion Only) 



Closed Session to 
Discuss Personnel 

Matters  



                                                                                      County Board Meeting: March 27, 2025 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2025 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

SPONSORED BY:  KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR EMPLOYMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS  

AND PATRICK J. THOMPSON 
 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article III, Division 2, Section 2-123 of the Winnebago County 
Code, the County Administrator shall be appointed by the Winnebago County Board of the County 
of Winnebago, Illinois (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”) upon recommendation of the 
Board’s Operations and Administrative Committee; and 

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois entered into an employment agreement 
(“Agreement”) with Patrick J. Thompson to act and perform the duties of Winnebago County 
Administrator since August 2020; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Board to amend the Agreement, which includes an 
additional three (3) year term, ending August 24, 2028; and  

WHEREAS, amendments to the Agreement were negotiated between the parties, said 
Agreement attached hereto as “Exhibit A.” 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that Joseph V. Chiarelli, Winnebago County Board Chairman, is authorized and directed 
to, enter into the Amended County Administrator Employment Agreement between the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois and Patrick J. Thompson, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein as “Exhibit A.” 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Amended County Administrator Employment 
Agreement between the County of Winnebago, Illinois and Patrick J. Thompson entered into by 
Joseph V. Chiarelli, Winnebago County Board Chairman pursuant to the authority granted in this 
Resolution shall contain substantially the same terms as the Amended County Administrator 
Employment Agreement between the County of Winnebago, Illinois and Patrick J. Thompson, 
which is attached to this Resolution as “Exhibit A.” 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized 
and directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Winnebago County 
Auditor, Winnebago County Finance Director and County Administrator Patrick J. Thompson. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



                   Respectfully submitted, 
                                                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE     DISAGREE 

 
__________________________________       __________________________________  
Keith McDonald, Chair                                  Keith McDonald, Chair 
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair        Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair     
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Paul Arena                   Paul Arena          
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
John Butitta        John Butitta    
 
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                                     Joe Hoffman 
  
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado                              Jaime Salgado                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Michael Thompson                             Michael Thompson 

 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of _________________, 2025. 
 

                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman of the 

     County Board of the County of    
     Winnebago, Illinois 

ATTEST: 
 

______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 



1 
 

AMENDED COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

AND PATRICK J. THOMPSON 
 
 

 This Amended County Administrator Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is made this 
____ day of ____________, 20252, by and between the County of Winnebago, Illinois (“Employer”) 
and Patrick J. Thompson (“Employee”). 
 
 WHEREAS, the Employer desires to continue to employ Employee to act as and perform the 
duties of County Administrator during the period set forth herein (hereinafter referred to as 
“County Administrator”); and   
 
 WHEREAS, Employee is agreeable to act and perform the duties of County Administrator 
under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.      
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which the parties acknowledge, the parties agree as follows: 
 
SECTION I.  TERM 
 
 Subject to the provisions for resignation or termination as hereinafter provided in Section X. 
of this Agreement, the term of this Agreement shall be for the period from August 24, 2025 to August 
24, 20285.  This Agreement may be renewed by the parties for an additional term.  If the parties 
desire to negotiate for an additional term, said negotiations for the terms of a successor Agreement 
may commence September 1, 2024, but no later than March 1, 2025.  However, nothing in this 
Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with rights of the Winnebago County Board 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Board”) under Article III, Division 2, Section 2-123 of the Winnebago 
County Code to dismiss the Employee or the right of the Employee to resign, both subject to the 
applicable provisions of this Agreement.   
 
SECTION II. DUTIES 
 
 The Employee is hereby retained as County Administrator for the Employer. The 
Employee’s primary function is to perform the functions and duties as specified in Article III, 
Division 2, Section 2-124 of the Winnebago County Code and to perform such other legally 
permissible and proper duties and functions as the Board shall from time to time assign. The 
Employee shall be considered an exempt employee for purposes of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 
and shall not be paid compensatory time.     
 

 
SECTION III.  COMPENSATION 
 
 Effective September 1, 2025, Employer agrees to pay Employee for his services under this 
Agreement an annual salary of _________________$170,000.00, payable on a regular basis in 
accordance with Employer’s payroll procedures and subject to all appropriate federal, state, and 
other applicable withholdings.  In the remaining two years of this contract, on September 1st, the 
Employee’s salary will increase by the July CPI-U annual rate, not to exceed 3%. Subject to the 
provision of Section V. of this Agreement, as hereinafter provided, additional increases, if any, in 



2 
 

Employee’s salary for merit shall be determined by the Board based on the Employee’s annual 
performance evaluation. 
 
SECTION IV.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
 Until such time as this Agreement is terminated by either party, in accordance with 
provisions for resignation or termination hereinafter provided, the Employer shall:   
 
 A. Insurance: Provide health, dental and life insurance for the Employee and for the 
Employee’s dependents in the same manner and at the same level to that which is provided by the 
Employer to other non-union Winnebago County, Illinois (“County”) employees, such that the 
Employee shall pay the County employee portion of said insurances.   
 
 B. Tax and retirement contributions: Make FICA, Medicare and Illinois Municipal 
Retirement Fund (IMRF) contributions, as required by law, for the benefit of the Employee. 
 
 C. Vacation, Sick Days, Personal Days and Holidays: Provide the Employee with paid 
time off benefits for vacation days, sick days, personal days and holidays as established in the 
County’s personnel manual for non-union County employees.  Upon execution of this Agreement 
by the parties, the Employee shall be credited with ten (10) additional days of paid time off for 
vacation.  Beginning on August 25th, 20252, and each year thereafter on August 25th, the Employee 
shall be able to accrue an annual allotment of thirty (30) days of paid time off for vacation each year.  
Said annual allotment of thirty (30) days of paid time off for vacation shall be accrued during the 
course of the full one year, with said thirty (30) vacation days accrued in the same manner as 
described in the County’s personnel manual for non-union County employees.         
 
 D. Retirement: The IMRF shall constitute the sole Employer-provided retirement plan 
for the Employee.  The Employer agrees to contribute to the plan each year on behalf of the 
Employee the amount required by the IMRF for employer contributions, on a percentage basis 
commensurate with those of other employees of the Employer participating in the IMRF.  The 
Employee shall be responsible for paying the employee portion of contributions for IMRF as is paid 
by all County employees.                 
 
SECTION V. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
 
 The Board recognizes for the Employee to respond to the Board’s needs and to grow in the 
performance of the County Administrator’s job, the Employee needs to know how the Board 
members evaluate the Employee’s performance.  To assure the Employee gets this feedback, the 
Board shall conduct an evaluation of the Employee’s performance at least once a year, and/or when 
it deems necessary to discuss any concerns or direction in performance.  The Board and Employee 
shall jointly define goals and performance objectives which they deem necessary for the proper 
operation of the County and shall establish the relative priority among the various goals and 
objectives.  The Employee agrees to comply with all policies of the County governing the Conduct 
of its employees.  
 
 
SECTION VI.   TRANSPORTATION 
 



3 
 

 Employee will be expected to travel for work-related trips and will receive an automobile 
allowance of $200.00/month. There shall be an annual adjustment to the Transportation Allowance 
to reflect increases in the U.S. Department of Labor Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers 
(“CPI”).  In addition, Employee is permitted to utilize County vehicles, consistent with County 
policy, for longer distance trips as appropriate. Employee will be ineligible to receive 
reimbursement for mileage.  
 
SECTION VII.  PROFESSIONAL DUES AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
 Employee agrees to maintain his professional standing in state, regional, and national 
groups related to County government.  Employer agrees to pay Employee’s dues for the Illinois 
City/County Management Association and the International City Management Association (ICMA).  
Employee may attend one National Association of Counties (NACo)/National Association of County 
Administrators (NACA) Conference and/or one ICMA Conference each year paid by the County; 
however, prior approval by the County Board for participation and payment shall be required.  
 
SECTION VIII.   DUTY OF LOYALTY 
 
 Employee shall act at all times in the best interests of Employer.  Employee shall devote full 
time to the duties and responsibilities of the position and shall engage in no pursuit which interferes 
with them. 
 
SECTION IX.   TERMINATION AND SEVERANCE PAY 
 
 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be 
terminated as follows: 
 
A. Voluntary Resignation – The Employee, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the 
Board, may resign from his position of employment as County Administrator.  Said notice 
requirement may be waived by Employer at its sole discretion. The Employee, upon resignation, 
shall be entitled for payment for unused vacation time accrued at the date of his resignation.  In the 
event the Employee voluntarily resigns as County Administrator, the Employee shall receive no 
severance pay unless otherwise agreed to by a majority of the Board.  However, any severance pay 
shall not exceed twenty (20) weeks of the Employee’s salary at his then base rate.   
     
B. Mutual Agreement of the County Administrator and the County – This Agreement may be 
terminated by mutual agreement of the Employee and the Employer, in which case the Employee 
shall receive no severance pay unless otherwise agreed to by a majority of the Board.  However, 
any severance pay shall not exceed twenty (20) weeks of the Employee’s salary at his then base 
rate.  The Employee shall be entitled for payment for unused vacation time accrued at the date of 
the agreement of termination. 
 
C. Termination by the County.  Pursuant to Article III, Division 2, Section 2-123 of the 
Winnebago County Code, or as subsequently amended, the Board may terminate this Agreement 
at any time with or without cause, by providing written notice of the reason(s). The Board’s right to 
terminate the Employee pursuant to this Section X. (C), shall not be subject to or in any way limited 
by past Board practices related to the employment, discipline or termination of the County’s 



4 
 

employees.  Notwithstanding all the provisions of Section X. of this Agreement, the Employee 
remains an at-will employee.  
 
D.  Termination by the County with Cause – Pursuant to Article III, Division 2, Section 2-123 of 
the Winnebago County Code, or as subsequently amended, the Board may remove the Employee 
and terminate this Agreement at any time for cause, which for purposes of this Agreement shall be 
a material breach of this Agreement and/or for “misconduct,” as defined in Illinois’ Government 
Severance Pay Act, 5 ILCS 415/5.  
    
 In the event this Agreement is terminated by a majority of the Board at any time due to a 
material breach of this Agreement and/or the Employee’s “misconduct” as defined in Illinois’ 
Government Severance Pay Act, 5 ILCS 415/5, per section 10 of said Act, 5 ILCS 415/10, the 
Employer is prohibited from paying the Employee any severance pay, and the Employee shall be 
entitled only to payment of unused vacation time, and compensation, which has accrued at the date 
of termination.     
           
 E. Termination by the County without Cause - Pursuant to Article III, Division 2, Section 2-123 
of the Winnebago County Code, or as subsequently amended, the Board may terminate the 
Employee without cause but rather based upon management reasons such as implementing the 
County’s goals or policies, including but not limited to incompatibility of management styles.  In 
the event the Employee is terminated without cause, and the Employee does not challenge such 
termination, including but not limited to by means of appeal or civil or administrative claim or suit, 
the Employer shall pay the Employee severance pay not to exceed twenty (20) weeks of his salary 
at his then base salary pay rate.   Said twenty (20) weeks of severance pay is the maximum allowed 
under Illinois’ Government Severance Pay Act, 5 ILCS 415/10.  The Employee and the Employee’s 
dependents shall be provided health, dental and life insurance during said twenty (20) week period 
at the same level to that which is provided by the Employer to other non-union Winnebago County, 
Illinois (“County”) employees, such that the Employee shall pay the County employee portion of 
said insurances during said twenty (20) week severance pay period.  In addition, the Employee 
shall receive payment for his unused vacation time, and compensation, which has accrued at the 
date of termination.       
 
SECTION X.   GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

A. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties and supersedes all prior 
arrangements or understandings, whether written or oral, with respect to it.   

 
B. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, such 

provision shall be fully severable and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force 
and effect.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable provision had never comprised part of this Agreement.  
 

C. This Agreement cannot be amended or modified except by a written amendment or written 
modification signed by both parties. 
 

D. This Agreement is not assignable or transferrable by either party. 
 



5 
 

E. For purposes of enforcement of the promises and covenants of this Agreement, Employee 
agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of any federal or state court located in Winnebago 
County, Illinois, selected by the Employer. 

 
F. The waiver by either party of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate 

or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach by the parties.  
 
SECTION XI. NOTICES 
 
 All notices required under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered either sent by 
Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or personally served in the same manner as is applicable 
to civil judicial practice.  Notice shall be given to the following addresses until written notice to the 
contrary is given: 
 
To the Board and Employee: 
Winnebago County Administration Building 
404 Elm Street, 5th floor 
Rockford, Illinois 61101 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer and the Employee have signed and executed this 
Agreement, both in duplicate, on the day and year first above written. 
 
 
_______________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Patrick J. Thompson         Joseph V. Chiarelli 
“Employee”      Chairman of the County Board of the 
       County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
 
          
       ATTEST: 
 
       ______________________________   
       Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
       County Board of the 
       County of Winnebago, Illinois 
    


	Agenda
	Approval of Minutes
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Replacement Range Wall for Sheriff's Office Using CIP-PSST 2025 Funds Cost: $105,595
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Palo Alto Firewall Using CIP 2025 Funds Cost: $494,980
	An Ordinance Amending Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3 of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances (Purchasing Ordinance)
	County-Wide Security Camera/Integrator ARP Phase 3 Project  (Discussion Only)
	Closed Session 
to Discuss 
Personnel Matters
	Resolution Amending the County Administrator Employment Agreement Between The County of Winnebago, Illinois and Patrick J. Thompson
	Future Agenda Items
	Adjournment



